STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purpose of this Brief, the following abbreviations shall be utilized:

"R" for "Record on Appeal";

"A" for "Appendix to Brief";

"TTI" for Transcript of Temporary Injunction Hearing (July 28, 1984)

"TT" for Trial Transcript (January 23, 1985)

To avoid duplication, the City of St. Augustine Beach has joined in this Brief and is referred to separately only in those incidences where its legislative authority for regulation of motor vehicles on the beaches differs from St. Johns County.

This case was tried without jury on the amended complaint filed by the plaintiff-appellee Board of Trustees of The Internal Improvement Trust Fund against defendant-appellant St. Johns County (A-4) and the second amended complaint of said plaintiff-appellee against defendant-appellant City of St. Augustine Beach (A-8).

The cases were consolidated by court order. (A-19).

The amended complaints requested a declaratory judgment holding that County ordinance 80-17 as amended and City ordinances 79 and 110 as amended were invalid and enjoining the City and County from charging regulatory motor vehicle beach user fees to motorists driving on the Atlantic Ocean beaches within the City and County. Stephen L. Boyles, State Attorney of the Seventh Judicial Circuit of Florida filed a Notice of Appearance (A-20). The St. Johns County circuit Court, Seventh Judicial Circuit, on February 22, 1985 rendered a final judgment (A-45) declaring the ordinances invalid and enjoining the City and County from charging beach

-1-

user fees for vehicular traffic on the beaches located within St. Johns County, Florida. The final judgment found that the County and City ordinances were purely revenue raising measures for the purpose of underwriting various activities and that there was no evidence showing any relationship between vehicular use on the beach and a number of the services being paid from the beach fees. Notice of Appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal (A-49) was filed February 22, 1985. The Fifth District Court of Appeal certified the appeal to the Florida Supreme Court which accepted jursidiction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

St. Johns County ordinance 80-17 as amended was introduced into evidence (TTI-5)(A-26)(A-58) and contained the following **legislative findings** by the Board of County of Commissioners of St. Johns County:

"Section 19 (A-63)

b) Approximatley **96%** of the people who use the County beaches during the days and hours that motor vehicle beach passes are required (the **summer beach season**), <u>enter</u> upon such beaches by means of <u>motor</u> vehicles driven and parked on the County beaches.

c) Such motor vehicles enable such persons to bring a <u>disproportionatley</u> larger amount of trash, alcohol, glass bottles and other non desirable items onto the beaches than do persons who enter upon the beaches by foot, thereby <u>creating</u> a disproportionate <u>increase</u> in the need for regulation concerning such items.

d) Motor vehicular use on the County beaches enables a significantly larger number of people to enjoy the beaches for bathing and recreational uses and thus <u>increases</u> the <u>need</u> for **life guard** protection and trash and beach clean up and maintenance.

e) Private <u>motor vehicular</u> use of County ramps and the dry sand beaches between the ramps and the County beaches are the <u>primary</u> <u>cause</u> of the expenditure of County ad valorem tax dollars for beach and ramp maintenance. . .

f) The <u>imposition</u> of the motor vehicle beach user <u>fee</u> has significantly reduced the amount of through motor vehicle traffic that merely "cruises" the beach for non bathing purposes, thus reducing the number of motor vehicles that are mixing with bathers and other recreational beach users; and has also significantly <u>reduced</u> the number of motor vehicle drivers that use the beaches for motor <u>vehicular</u> <u>sports</u> such as speeding, "doing wheelies" and otherwise endangering the beach recreational users.

g) The <u>primary need</u> for the use of <u>law enforcement</u> personnel and law enforcement vehicles on County beaches during the summer bathing season is to <u>regulate</u> the speed and direction of <u>motor vehicular</u> <u>traffic</u> and segregate such traffic from bathing and recreational areas; to control the parking of motor vehicles on the beaches; to prevent reckless and careless driving within the recreation areas; and to regulate the possession, consumption and effects of alcohol on persons who arrive on the beaches by motor vehicle.

<u>Section 9B</u> Ordinance 80-17 as amended is enacted in conjunction with and as a <u>necessary adjunct</u> to the <u>other</u> County <u>beach</u> <u>ordinances</u>, such as, but not limited to, the County ordinances regulating traffic direction, alcohol possession, peddling, the dumping of trash, animal control, camping and other activities as they pertain to the regulation of such activities on County beaches." A-69)

The ordinance then <u>restricted</u> the expenditure of the motor vehicle beach user fee revenues so that they could <u>only</u> be used to pay the <u>percentage</u> of beach costs <u>attributable</u> to the motor vehicles <u>during</u> the times and hours that the user fees were charged - the summer beach season. (The ad valorem tax payers of St. Johns County would continue to pay for pedestrian costs)

Section 6 of the ordinance provided: (A-64)

"Section 6 The funds collected from the levy of the fee shall be expended only for the following purposes; to pay the costs of collecting the fees; to help defray the costs of maintaining the access ramps and the dry sand area between the access ramps and the County beaches during the summer beach season; to pay the costs of beach motor vehicle traffic and parking control not to exceed 87% of the costs of law enforcement personnel and law enforcement vehicles while on duty or in use on the beaches during the summer beach season; to pay the costs of collecting and removing garbage and trash from County beaches not to exceed 85% of the total cost of such garbage and trash removal during the summer beach season; to pay the costs of life guard personnel and equipment for services performed on the County beaches not to exceed 96% of the total of such costs during the summer beach season; to help pay the costs of sanitary facilities in the County beach area not to exceed 87% of such costs during the summer beach season; to purchase, acquire and construct parking lots near the beaches to be used solely for the parking of cars while the cars occupants are using the beaches; and for any other lawful purposes related to this ordinance." (A-64)

-3-

Section 19(b) of the ordinance **defined** "summer beach season" as the days and hours during which passes are required.

Section 6A of the ordinance provided: (A-70)

"Section 6A. The funds collected from the levy of the fees shall be expended only for the purposes described in Section 6. In the event the funds collected during any two consecutive years exceed the costs described in Section 6 the fees shall be appropriately reduced the following year."

An affidavit was introduced into evidence (TTI-8)(A-26)(A-51) avering that **78%** of the motor vehicles entering the County beaches during the first portion of the 1984 user fee collection season had license tags that were <u>not</u> from St. Johns County.

Certain facts were stipulated by the parties to be true. Among those facts were the following:

- "1. Beach fee collections amounted to \$233,818 for 1984. (A-42)
- 2. The expense of collecting the fee amounted to \$64,478. (A-42)
- 3. The salary expense for the lifesaving corps amounted to \$96,119. (A-42)
- 4. The salary expense for the sheriff's beach unit amounted to \$79,479. (A-42)
- 16. The defendant expended approximately \$53,225 in 1984 for beach operating expenses not included in items #2, 3, and 4 above; the record for this expenditure are not precise and no time records were kept; a portion of this sum may have been spent for non beach related expenses. (A-43)

Photographs were introduced into evidence showing the motor vehicles and pedestrians on the beach during the summer beach season. (A-1)(A-2)(A-3)The photographs showed approximately 1.25 persons per motor vehicle. (A-93,94,95) The parties stipulated that the beach toll collectors estimate that on an average approximately 2 to 3 people are in each motor vehicle that enters the beach during the beach fee collection season (A-44) thus indicating that all the people in the photographs arrived by motor vehicle.

Other facts were stipulated by the parties to be true: (A-23)

"c) St. Johns County has enacted certain ordinances pertaining to the Atlantic Ocean beaches in St. Johns County, Florida, including its ordinance 80-17 as amended charging motor vehicle beach user fees.

- d) The City of St. Augustine Beach has enacted certain ordinances pertaining to the Atlantic Ocean beaches in St. Johns County, Florida including its ordinance #79 as amended pertaining to motor vehicle beach user fees
- e) The County and the City of St. Augustine Beach have been enforcing their respective beach ordinances since the dates they became effective (such dates being no later than 10 days after their passage) and they intend to continue to enforce them.
- h) Plaintiff (the State) does not "regulate" vehicular traffic on the Atlantic Ocean beaches within the State of Florida as such term "regulate" is used in its police power sense and it does not seek to exercise police power within the confines of St. Johns County. It does not regulate traffic or other matters that are subject to local police power.
- hh) St. Johns County and the City of St. Augustine Beach have the power and authority to regulate the use of the ocean beaches for the protection of health, welfare and safety of the public.
- Plaintiff exercises its authority over the Atlantic Ocean beaches within the State of Florida pursuant to Florida Statute sections 253.03(1), 253.001 and Article 10 Section 11 Florida Constitution in a "proprietary" and not "regulatory" capacity.
- j) The plaintiff's state wide policy is that no motor vehicles belonging to members of the general public are, or will be, allowed to drive on the Atlantic Ocean beaches east of the high water mark.
- k) During the month of August 1984, Dr. Elton J. Gissendanner, the Executive Director of the Department of Natural Resources, and the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund publicly announced that automobiles will not be allowed to drive on the approximately 5 miles of Atlantic Ocean beaches located in St. Johns County in the area known as the Guano Tract.
- The plaintiff's state wide policy is that no motor vehicles belonging to members of the general public are, or will be, allowed to drive on the beaches of the Gulf of Mexico below the high water mark of the Gulf.
- n) The plaintiff charges application processing fees pursuant to Florida Administrative Code Chapter 16 Q 21 to process applications by members of the general public for permission to lease sovereign state lands or to obtain easements over sovereign state lands.
- o) The Florida Department of Natural Resources charges user fees to members of the general public for their use of most State Park facilities.
- p) The Division of Recreation and Parks of the Department of Natural Resources charges a fee to persons who may use many of the State Parks and the Department contends its authority for charging

such fees is derived from §258.014 Florida Statute (1983) and Chapter 16 D-2.02 of the Florida Administrative Code.

- r) The lands under navigable waters are sovereign state lands. The plaintiff charges the general public on a cubic yard basis for dredge material severed from the lands under navigable waters by members of the general public.
- t) St. Johns County as the governing body of the Anastasia Sanitary District has been required by the plaintiff to pay permit application fees to process permit applications to construct sewer outfall lines across state owned marshland areas and it will continue to charge such fees to defendant county unless enjoined by the Court.

The parties further stipulated that: (A-26)

"A. All exhibits and proofs entered into evidence by either party at the hearing of July 28, 1984 including Court File papers nos. 35 through 50, and Plaintiffs' exhibits 1 through 4, shall be deemed entered into evidence at the trial subject only to the same objections announced by the opposing party.

B. The court reported transcript of the hearing of July 28, 1984 shall be deemed entered into evidence subject to the objections contained therein.

C. Copies of County and City ordinances may be introduced into evidence without formal predicate."

Other items were introduced into evidence by defendant appellants:

Final judgment in <u>Louise Buckles v The City of New Smyrna Beach</u>, case no. 73-2618-01 Circuit Court, in and for Volusia County; City of New Smyrna Beach Ordinance 769. (A-79) City of Jacksonville Beach Ordinance 6674; Final Judgment in <u>Donald G. Nichols v City of Jacksonville and City</u> of Jacksonville Beach, case no. 71-2502 Circuit Court in and for Duval County (A-85)

The City of St. Augustine Beach introduced into evidence its ordinances regulating motor vehicle traffic within the municipal boundaries of the City. (TTI-12, 13) These ordinances are numbered 79 and 110.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER ST. JOHNS COUNTY HAS THE AUTHORITY TO CHARGE MOTOR VEHICLE BEACH USER FEES AS A PART OF ITS REGULATORY OR POLICE POWER.

Pursuant to Special Acts, St. Johns County and the City of St. Augustine Beach have been granted the authority to supervise and regulate the operation of motor vehicles upon "any beach adjacent to the Atlantic Ocean between high and low water marks." In order for this grant of regulatory authority to be of practical effect, both the "wet" and "dry" sand areas of the beach below the high water mark were encompassed by the State Legislature within the acts parameters. Since the legislature has expressly granted beach regulatory authority to the County and City, the only remaining issue is whether such regulatory authority includes the charging of a motor vehicle beach user fee.

The charging of user fees has long been recognized as a legitimate form of regulation according to, <u>inter alia</u>, the following authorities: the United States Supreme Court in <u>Baldwin v Montana Fish and Game Commission</u>, infra at 17; the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Harkow v McCarthy</u>, infra at 30, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>City of Daytona Beach Shores v State</u>, infra at 17; the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Hollywood Inc. v Broward</u> <u>County</u>, infra at 18; and the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Nichols v</u> City of Jacksonville, infra at 18;

A motor vehicle beach user fee has previously been held to be a reasonable form of regulation under a special law. <u>Nichols v City of</u> <u>Jacksonville, infra at 18. In Nichols</u>, the beach user fee was noted as serving a deterrent effect which was a valid aspect of regulation, and the

-7-

funds raised by the beach user fee were limited to those expenses associated with the use of the beach. The parameters of this case are the same as those in Nichols.

Similarly, in <u>Louise Buckles v the City of New Smyrna Beach</u>, infra at 19, the Circuit Court for Volusia County held valid as an incident to the police power the levy of a beach user charge on motor vehicles operated on the beach. Again, it was emphasized that the user charges were utilized to defray expenses of providing services for the users of the beach. Also, the following Attorney General Opinions support the validity of beach user fees: 75 AGO-084; 62 AGO-142.

Point I then cites additional authorities showing that the revenues raised in connection with ordinances imposing user fees, impact fees, and license fees inacted as an aspect of a government's police regulatory power may be used to defray the costs of regulating specific activities, to pay the costs of preserving finite resources, to pay the cost of capital improvements, to pay the costs of providing services, and to pay the costs of operating and maintaining public facilities. These authorities and cases are cited to show that Florida law allows local governments to charge persons and activities that create a need for extraordinary regulatory services the reasonable cost of the services that such persons and activities cause, require and demand.

POINT II

WHETHER THERE WAS UNREBUTTED EVIDENCE BEFORE THE COURT SHOWING THE RELATION SHIP BETWEEN MOTOR VEHICLE USE ON THE BEACH AND THE SERVICES BEING PROVIDED BY MOTOR VEHICLE BEACH USER FEE REVENUES.

The Trial Court stated that there was no evidence as to the relationship between vehicular use on the beach and the services being paid from the

-8-

beach fees. The County challenges the validity of this finding for three reasons. First, the ordinance under consideration contained specific findings of fact as to the need for specified beach services attributable to motor vehicle beach use. The ordinance was placed in evidence, and consequently the findings contained therein were presumptively valid. No evidence to the contrary was introduced by the state. Accordingly, the unrebutted presumption that the findings and recitals contained in the ordinance were correct should have been respected by the Court, and adhered to. Secondly, the pleadings filed by the state raised an issue solely as to the authority to charge user fees and did not question how the fees were applied. In the absence of proper pleadings, the Court should not have inquired into the application of the fees. Thirdly, the County's legislative finding as to the percentage of the total costs of beach services that are attributable to and generated by motor vehicle use on the beach should not be disturbed without any contravening proof.

POINT III

WHETHER ST. JOHNS COUNTY MOTOR VEHICLE BEACH USER FEE ORDINANCES ARE DESIGNED OR USED TO UNDERWRITE COUNTY-WIDE SERVICES.

This point emphasizes the section 6 and 6A ordinance requirements that the motor vehicle beach user fee revenues be expended <u>only</u> for beach services generated by motor vehicle beach use during the days and times that such fees are charged.

POINT IV

WHETHER IT IS CONSTITUTIONALLY PERMISSIBLE FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY TO CHARGE MOTOR VEHICLE BEACH USER FEES AND NOT ATTEMPT TO CHARGE PEDESTRIAN BEACH USER FEES.

-9-

This point emphasizes the fact that the County ordinance section 6 percentage spending limitations specifically limit the expenditure of the fee proceeds to only the beach costs and services created and used by the persons using the motor vehicles during the summer beach season. The motor vehicle users do not pay for beach services provided to the pedestrian beach entrants. Point IV also cites case law showing that it is not constitutionally impermissible to require the **96%** of beach users who arrive by motor vehicle to pay the entire cost of beach regulation during the summer beach season.

POINT V

WHETHER ST. JOHNS **COUNTY** AD VALOREM TAX PAYERS HAVE THE **DUTY** TO PROVIDE FREE EXTRAORDINARY POLICE AND SAFETY PROTECTION AND FREE MAINTENANCE FOR ALL OTHER PERSONS THROUGHOUT THE WORLD WHO WISH TO ENJOY **STATE** OWNED BEACHES LOCATED WITHIN THE COUNTY.

This point addresses the statement contained in <u>City of Daytona Beach</u> <u>Shores v State</u>, infra at 42, that the City of Daytona Beach Shores had the authority and the <u>duty</u> to regulate vehicular traffic on the beach. Point Five stresses that the legislatively granted **authority** to regulate the beach does not necessarily impose a duty on the County to provide such **extraordinary** regulatory efforts free of charge.

-10-

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER ST. JOHNS COUNTY HAS THE AUTHORITY TO CHARGE MOTOR VEHICLE BEACH USER FEES AS A PART OF ITS REGULATORY OR POLICE POWER.

At the outset, appellant would like to make it clear that St. Johns County does not claim any right to charge motor vehicle beach user fees based on a County proprietary or ownership power. The County would also point out that <u>generally</u>, user fees are based on a <u>combined</u> "proprietary" and "regulatory" power that makes any discussion separating the two moot. Such, however, is not the case here.

By Special Acts 65-2178 and 21543 the Florida Legislature specifically and unequivocally granted Appellants St.Johns County and the City of St. Augustine Beach the:

"...authority to supervise, <u>regulate</u>, prohibit and permit the operation of any <u>motor vehicle</u>...upon, over or across that portion of any beach adjacent to the Atlantic ocean between high and low water marks..." (A-97)

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