0/9 5-7-85



IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CITY OF DAYTONA BEACH SHORES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 65,912

STATE,

Appellee.

COUNTY OF ST. JOHNS, et al.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 66,700

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

(County of St. Johns, et al.

v.

Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund)

> LEE R. ROHE, ESQUIRE Assistant General Counsel Department of Natural Resources Suite 1003, Douglas Building 3900 Commonwealth Bouelvard Tallahassee, Florida 32303 Telephone: (904) 488-7150

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COUNTY HAS NO LEGAL AUTHORITY TO IMPOSE A TOLL UPON VEHICLES OF PERSONS USING THE SOVEREIGN BEACH AND ITS RECREATIONAL ADJUNCT

Appellants argue that two special acts, police power and home rule authority somehow give them the power to stop citizens along roads leading to the beach for the purpose of exacting a toll. Over the last four years, Appellants have raised substantial sums of money through this pretext of beach "regulation."

Although the County bases its toll authority upon police power, the toll is referred to as a "motor vehicle beach user fee." A user fee implies that the public is using something owned, controlled or in the possession of the one charging the user fee. But what is being <u>used</u> by the public? The sun. The surf. Water. Air. Sand.

The County's and City's "motor vehicle beach user fee" ought to be described as a "prohibition of use fee" for it has the effect of creating an economic barrier. In only four years, the "fee" has doubled. Since a "season pass" is ten dollars, a family must plan on visiting the beach at least five times during the summer in order to justify purchasing a "pass." But if the difference between the daily toll and the season pass is widened to four dollars and forty dollars, respectively, for example, a family visiting the beach nine times could not justify buying the

-10-

pass but would still have spent thirty-six dollars! Raising the toll and increasing the difference between the toll and pass would "regulate" many middle-class people right out of a summer at the beach.

1

The very beach impounded by Appellants' toll booths and economic barricades is not owned by the County or City. Lands below the mean high water line are state-owned sovereign lands held in trust for the public. Art. X, § 11, Fla. Const.

The Appellee holds legal title to the sovereign foreshore and submerged lands. Section 253.001 and 253.03(1)(b), 2 Fla. Stat. Under the trust doctrine, it follows that the people hold equitable title to the corpus of the trust -- sovereign land.

As stipulated by the parties, the lands above the mean high water line but below the dune line are impressed with public rights of custom and usage as defined in <u>City of Daytona Beach v.</u> <u>Tona-Rama, Inc.</u>, 294 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1974).

Like the trust doctrine, the right of custom and usage to the shore is so ancient it was recognized by Roman law. The sea and the shore were considered res communes - for the common 3use by all citizens.

^{1/} Nassau County's Ordinance No. 83-11 requires a beachgoer to pay fifteen dollars regardless of whether he visits the beach once or more than once. See Appendix 4.

^{2/} See also Section 177.28, Florida Statutes.

^{3/} The Public Trust In Tidal Areas. 79 Yale L.J. 762, 775 (1970).

Since 1970, public rights to sovereign lands under the trust doctrine have assumed constitutional proportions. <u>Weller</u> v. Askew, 363 So.2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1978).

As a consequence, restricting or conditioning access to the shore is tantamount to interfering with ancient common law rights now of a constitutional magnitude. No local action under any pretext or guise of "regulation" can justify itself in the face of such fundamental jurisprudence.

Appellant's special acts do not give it any express authority to charge a toll. Nor does Chapter 125, the County Home Rule Statute, supply the authority claimed by Appellants.

Section 125.01(1)(m) speaks of a county providing and regulating a toll road, bridge or tunnel. Whether or not special acts declare the beach a public highway has nothing to do with charging people a toll for access to the sea and shore. The beach is neither factually nor legally analogous to a bridge or tunnel.

Appellant cites Section 125.01(1)(w) as authority for its proposition that home rule power is so broad and allencompassing that the abrogation of common law and constitutional trust rights may be excused. Appellant has turned the world upside down to explain its toll. Special acts and general acts cannot be so tortiously construed as to lead to such an untenable conclusion. Even Section 125.01(1) states that:

> "The legislative and governing body of a county shall have the power to carry on county government. To the extent not inconsistent with general or special law, this power shall include, but shall not be restricted to, the power to:" etc. [Emphasis added]

> > -12-

To begin with, the County is not carrying on "county government" when it intrudes so abruptly into the realm of the sovereign, trampling upon basic rights all the way. Control of sovereign land remains with the State and the Appellee. Section 253.03, Fla. Stat. The Appellee exercises a proprietary control over sovereign land. <u>Watson v. Caldwell</u>, 27 So.2d 524, 526 (Fla. 1946).

Barricading land or obstructing entry to it is an act of control, not regulation. Sovereign land cannot be alienated from the public by the acts of Appellant. <u>Ellis v. Gerbing</u>, 47 So. 353 (Fla. 1908). Appropriate subjects for police power regulation do not include the disposition of sovereign lands but instead include matters like public health, welfare and financial or economic safety. 10 Fla. Jur. 2d, Constitutional Law, §224-228. For when local "regulation" does more than merely direct the flow and speed of traffic, enforce local and State laws, impose order on crowds but instead seeks to control entry to sovereign land, then the line between police power regulation and proprietary control over sovereign lands has been crossed.

In private real property law, payment of a fee for entry upon land or property is the purchase of a license in real property. Only a titleholder, lessee or someone having a superior possessory interest in land can limit another's entry to that land. See Easement and Licenses In Real Property, 20 <u>Fla. Jur.2d</u> §2; Boyer, Vol. 2 Florida Real Estate Transactions, 1984 Ed., §35.03(3).

-13-

On the other hand, regulation modifies behavior or conduct for public safety, health or welfare. The power to regulate does not include the power to prohibit unless the activity is in and of itself a nuisance. <u>Carter v. Town of Palm Beach</u>, 237 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970).

Another limitation upon county home rule power is that a county cannot act in a manner inconsistent with general or special law. Thus, Chapter 125 is self-limiting but Appellant sees only carte blanche in home rule. Appellant, through its local, idiosyncratic beach toll ordinances, behaves as if it is the lawgiver for the people of Florida when the County attempts to apply exclusionary policies to a State resource.

On page 13 of Appellant's brief, it is argued that "the power to regulate includes the power to charge reasonable user fees to pay the cost of regulating." Appellant cites six cases in support of its contention.

But where is the regulation in the case sub judice? Barricading constitutionally protected property and stopping traffic along a busy highway to exact money from motorists has nothing to do with regulation. Indeed, it probably is <u>contrary</u> to the safety of the public when a traffic hazard is created by backing up traffic from a toll booth. And how does payment of two dollars ensure one's health or safety? A beachgoer who has paid his two dollars to enter land already held in trust for him is just as likely to be bitten by a stray dog, stung by a jellyfish, burned by the rays of the sun, injured by broken glass

-14-

left on the beach, or become the victim of any crime that might occur anywhere else within St. Johns County. Moreover, if the beachgoer is a County and City ad valorem taxpayer, he has paid <u>three</u> times for the same government service: once as a city taxpayer, once as a county taxpayer and once as a toll-paying 4beachgoer.

And what are those government services or costs of regulation? They are the same services provided elsewhere in the County and City without payment of a toll. They include such basic governmental duties as police protection, disposal of litter and human waste, lifeguards (instead of fire department rescue) and the grading of sand road ramps. Such services are <u>necessary</u> if local government is going to fulfill its duty in protecting the health, welfare, and safety of citizens within the County. Claiming that the discharge of its normal, routine duty is something more, like "beach-related services," is illusory.

Why is it that routine County and City duties performed <u>off</u> the beach suddenly are elevated (when delivered on the beach) to the status of "beach-related services" or "motor vehicle beach user services" with the implied connotation that the discharge of those "services" on the beach constitutes some lofty, altruistic enterprise? The Appellants would have the public believe that

 $[\]underline{4}$ / For the local pedestrian beachgoer who doesn't pay local ad valorem taxes, a beachgoing motorist theoretically pays for the pedestrian's health, welfare and safety.

because the Appellants cannot collect quite enough money to show a "profit," that the furnishing of such "beach-related services" arises <u>not</u> from the Appellants' governmental duty but from some generous sense of noblesse' oblige.

Insofar as the cases cited by Appellant on page 13 of its brief are concerned, all can be easily distinguished.

In <u>City of Daytona Beach Shores v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 651 6 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the Fifth DCA <u>disapproved</u> of user charges for vehicles using the beach ramps. <u>Id.</u> at 655.

The case of <u>Nichols v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 262 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972) has no value since the First DCA merely stated:

> ". . . We are not convinced that the trial court applied erroneous principles of law in arriving at its ultimate conclusion that the ordinance in question constituted a reasonable exercise of police power by appellee city in light of the evidence adduced at trial. [Emphasis added.] Id. at 236.

To be sure, a trial court affirmance by the DCA of two paragraphs can hardly be cited as definitive authority. Obviously, the plaintiff in <u>Nichols</u>, supra, did not assert the same arguments and legal doctrines as posited now in the case sub judice. (The First DCA could only consider the record before it.)

^{5/} A large "beach-related cost" is that of collecting the toll money itself. The 1984 expense of merely collecting the toll amounted to \$64,478 or 28% of revenues collected.

 $[\]underline{6}/$ Consolidated with the case sub judice by the Court's order of April 10, 1985.

The City of Jacksonville Beach was given express authority to "tax and regulate traffic . . . upon the ocean beach."

Here, the Appellant cannot point to any color of express enabling authority (no matter how suspect) for its ordinance. Nevertheless, sovereign lands held by the Appellee are exempt from taxes or special assessments of any kind. Section 253.03(5), Fla. Stat. Tax on the public <u>use</u> of state property would be an impermissible indirect tax on state property. Even government property leased to an organization for literary, scientific, religious, or charitable purposes enjoys a tax-exempt status with regard to the leasehold. Section 196.199, Florida Statutes.

Buckles v. New Smyrna Beach, Seventh Judicial Circuit Court Case No. 73-2618-01, concerned itself with whether a private citizen could test a beach toll under various limitations upon a municipality's taxing authority. To the extent it conflicts with the <u>Daytona Beach Shores</u> decision, supra, it has been impliedly overruled.

Neptune City v. Avon-by-the-Sea, 294 A.2d 47 (N.J. 1972) concerned a beach access fee authorized by a state statute. The fee could be charged only where a municipality owned a portion of the beach and operated facilities upon it in a proprietary capacity.

At page 54 of <u>Neptune City</u>, supra, the New Jersey Supreme Court reasoned that:

-17-

"We mention this alienation aspect to indicate that, at least where the upland sand area is <u>owned</u> by a municipality - a political subdivision and creature of the state - and dedicated to public beach purposes, a modern court must take the view that the <u>public trust</u> <u>doctrine</u> dictates that the beach and the ocean waters must <u>be open to all on equal terms</u> and without preference and that <u>any contrary state</u> or <u>municipal action is impermissible.</u>"

Baldwin v. Montana Fish and Game Commission, 436 U.S. 371 (1978), involved a license fee for non-residents for the privilege of hunting elk. The public's rights to use and enjoy sovereign land should not be confused with a privilege.

<u>Chase v. City of Sanford</u>, 54 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1951), cited by Appellant, had to do with a bond validation and whether parking meter revenues could be applied to the servicing of port terminal bonds.

In the case sub judice, the Appellant will sometimes claim its toll is a parking fee. But only those who park on the beach -- either sovereign land or private uplands -- are charged a toll. Appellant, therefore, is using lands of another to park cars and then charge for it.⁷

As stated above, the County and City have no claim to the ownership of the property tolled. Clearly, not even the Appellee as titleholder to the beach can pursue any policy or rule which is contrary to the Florida Constitutional Trust Doctrine.

^{7/} See Section 17 of Ordinance No. 84-26 [A-70, Appellant's Initial Brief]. See also Section 3 of Ordinance 80-17 [A-59, Appellant's Initial Brief].

Prior to the 1970 adoption of Art. X, §11, the public trust doctrine was recognized and reaffirmed again and again in this court's many decisions. <u>Black River Phosphate Co.</u>, 13 So. 640 (Fla. 1893); <u>Merrill-Stevens Co. v. Durkee</u>, 57 So. 428 (Fla. 1912); <u>Martin v. Busch</u>, 112 So. 274 (Fla. 1927); <u>Deering v.</u> <u>Martin</u>, 116 So. 54 (Fla. 1928); <u>Perky Properties, Inc. v.</u> <u>Felton</u>, 151 So. 892 (Fla. 1934); <u>Hayes v. Bowman</u>, 91 So.2d 795 (Fla. 1957); Bryant v. Lovett, 201 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1967).

Appellant, during the trial court proceedings and on page 13 of its brief, makes much ado about the fact that visitors to state parks are charged an admission fee of fifty cents per State parks do not charge for the use of sovereign land. person. The non-sovereign land which makes up a state park had to be purchased from private owners often at the cost of millions of dollars. After purchase, the Florida Legislature grants an appropriation of money for the park's development, i.e. construction of residences, roads, parking lots, visitor center, restrooms, campgrounds, utilities, walkways, etc. Each park is staffed by professional managers who do nothing but manage the 8 park. The entry fee is authorized under Section 258.014, Fla. Stat.

At page 14, Appellant asserts that if the legislature revoked the special acts, then the state can take up the responsibility and cost of regulating the Atlantic Ocean beaches within

^{8/} Florida's state park system has a nationwide reputation for professional management. Unlike the Appellant, state park personnel are trained in how to regulate parks in an efficient but discreet and unobtrusive manner.

St. Johns County. Counsel then writes:

". . . Neither the Courts nor the Governor have the duty nor the responsibility to make the decision as to who (the State or the County) should regulate the beaches and the manner (regulatory user fee, ad valorem taxation, state grants) in which the revenue to pay the costs are obtained."

To begin with, the Appellee does not possess police power authority over the local and general public health, welfare and safety. What police power the Trustees once had pertained to <u>only</u> navigable waters. In 1975, the Florida Legislature transferred the Appellee's navigable waters police power to the newlycreated Department of Environmental Regulation. Chapter 75-22, Laws of Florida. In the 1984 session, this legislative trend was continued with the repeal of Sections 253.123, 253.124, 253.1245 and 253.76. See §15, Chapter 84-79, Laws of Florida.

It is so absurd to suggest, as does Appellant, that if a County can't charge a toll, it is going to pick up its regulatory marbles and march home. But how does county government abdicate local governmental duties within county boundaries? Does Appellant truly believe it has a choice (contingent upon beach tolls) in performing various regulatory functions? The Appellant's very raison d'etre is for the promotion of local health, welfare and safety through financial resources already lawfully available.

The County, behaving like the mouse that roared, wants to take on the Courts and the Governor. Counsel for the County should not have invoked the appellate process if he really believed his own seemingly spiteful declaration.

-20-

Courts are indeed the final "judges" as to what are proper subjects of the police power. <u>State ex rel Fulton v.</u> Ives, 167 So. 394 (Fla. 1936).

Courts have the power and the duty to determine whether the exercise of police power is within constitutional limits. Liquor Store, Inc. v. Continental Distilling Corp., 40 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1949).

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